
222

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee
Thursday, 10th January, 2019
at 6.00 pm

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING

Council Chamber - Civic Centre

This meeting is open to the public

Members

Councillor P Baillie (Chair)
Councillor Fitzhenry
Councillor Furnell
Councillor Galton (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Harwood
Councillor Whitbread
Councillor Bell
Councillor Kataria
Councillor Mitchell

Appointed Members

Rob Sanders, Church of England
Catherine Hobbs, Roman Catholic Church
Vacancies

 Primary Parent Governor Representative; 
and 

 Secondary Parent Governor Representative

Contacts

Judy Cordell
Senior Democratic Support Officer
Tel. 023 8083 2766
Email: judy.cordell@southampton.gov.uk 

Mark Pirnie
Scrutiny Manager
Tel: 023 8083 3886
Email: mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:judy.cordell@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk


2

PUBLIC INFORMATION

Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee holds the Executive to account, exercises the call-
in process, and sets and monitors standards for scrutiny. It formulates a programme of scrutiny 
inquiries and appoints Scrutiny Panels to undertake them.  Members of the Executive cannot serve on 
this Committee.

Role of Overview and Scrutiny
Overview and Scrutiny includes the following three functions: 
 Holding the Executive to account by questioning and evaluating the Executive’s actions, both before 

and after decisions taken.  
 Developing and reviewing Council policies, including the Policy Framework and Budget Strategy.  
 Making reports and recommendations on any aspect of Council business and other matters that 

affect the City and its citizens.  
Overview and Scrutiny can ask the Executive to reconsider a decision, but they do not have the power 
to change the decision themselves. 

Use of Social Media:- The Council supports 
the video or audio recording of meetings open 
to the public, for either live or subsequent 
broadcast. However, if, in the Chair’s opinion, 
a person filming or recording a meeting or 
taking photographs is interrupting proceedings 
or causing a disturbance, under the Council’s 
Standing Orders the person can be ordered to 
stop their activity, or to leave the meeting. 
By entering the meeting room you are 
consenting to being recorded and to the use of 
those images and recordings for broadcasting 
and or/training purposes. The meeting may be 
recorded by the press or members of the 
public.
Any person or organisation filming, recording 
or broadcasting any meeting of the Council is 
responsible for any claims or other liability 
resulting from them doing so.
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the 
recording of meetings is available on the 
Council’s website.

Procedure / Public Representations
At the discretion of the Chair, members of the public 
may address the meeting on any report included on 
the agenda in which they have a relevant interest. Any 
member of the public wishing to address the meeting 
should advise the Democratic Support Officer (DSO) 
whose contact details are on the front sheet of the 
agenda.
Smoking Policy:- The Council operates a no-
smoking policy in all civic buildings.
Mobile Telephones:- Please switch your mobile 
telephones to silent whilst in the meeting
Fire Procedure:-
In the event of a fire or other emergency a continuous 
alarm will sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take. 
Access is available for disabled people. Please 
contact the Democratic Support Officer who will help 
to make any necessary arrangements.

The Southampton City Council Strategy (2016-
2020) is a key document and sets out the four 
key outcomes that make up our vision.

 Southampton has strong and 
sustainable economic growth

 Children and young people get a good 
start in life 

 People in Southampton live safe, 
healthy, independent lives

 Southampton is an attractive modern 
City, where people are proud to live 
and work

Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 2018/19

2018 2019
14 June 10 January
12 July 14 February
16 August 14 March
13 September 11 April 
11 October
15 November
13 December

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/Images/Council-strategy-2016-20_tcm63-387729.pdf


3

CONDUCT OF MEETING

TERMS OF REFERENCE BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED
The general role and terms of reference for 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee, together with those for all 
Scrutiny Panels, are set out in Part 2 
(Article 6) of the Council’s Constitution, and 
their particular roles are set out in Part 4 
(Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules – 
paragraph 5) of the Constitution.

Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this meeting.

RULES OF PROCEDURE QUORUM
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules as set out in Part 
4 of the Constitution.

The minimum number of appointed Members 
required to be in attendance to hold the 
meeting is 4.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both 
the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest”  they 
may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda.

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any 
matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or wife, or 
a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to: 
(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.
(ii) Sponsorship:
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from Southampton City 
Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense incurred by 
you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This includes 
any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union 
and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the you / 
your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under which goods 
or services are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has not been fully 
discharged.
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton.
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of Southampton 
for a month or longer.
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and 
the tenant is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests.
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) has a 
place of business or land in the area of Southampton, and either:

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body, or

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest 
that exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.



4

Other Interests

A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any membership 
of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in:

Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council

Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature

Any body directed to charitable purposes

Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy

Principles of Decision Making

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:-

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);
 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;
 respect for human rights;
 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency;
 setting out what options have been considered;
 setting out reasons for the decision; and
 clarity of aims and desired outcomes.

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must:

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law;

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account);

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations;
 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good;
 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 

the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle);
 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  

Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are 
unlawful; and

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness.



5

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY) 

To note any changes in membership of the Panel made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 4.3.

2  DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting.

NOTE:  Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic 
Support Officer.

3  DECLARATIONS OF SCRUTINY INTEREST 

Members are invited to declare any prior participation in any decision taken by a 
Committee, Sub-Committee, or Panel of the Council on the agenda and being 
scrutinised at this meeting. 

 

4  DECLARATION OF PARTY POLITICAL WHIP 

Members are invited to declare the application of any party political whip on any matter 
on the agenda and being scrutinised at this meeting.

5  STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR 

6  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING) 
(Pages 1 - 4)

To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the meetings held on 15th 
November, 2018 and to deal with any matters arising, attached.

7  SAFE CITY PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REVIEW (Pages 5 - 18)

Report of the Chair of the Safe City Partnership providing the Committee with an 
update on community safety in Southampton and the Safe City Partnership.

8  PLANNING PERFORMANCE (Pages 19 - 24)

Report of the Service Lead for Infrastructure, Planning and Development providing the 
Committee with an update on planning performance following the Committee 
considering a paper in 14 December 2017, and an update on 12 April 2018.



6

9  MONITORING SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE EXECUTIVE 
(Pages 25 - 30)

Report of the Director of Legal and Governance enabling the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee to monitor and track progress on recommendations made to 
the Executive at previous meetings.

Wednesday, 2 January 2019 Director of Legal and Governance



- 11 -

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 NOVEMBER 2018

Present: Councillors P Baillie (Chair), Fitzhenry, Furnell, Galton (Vice-Chair), 
Harwood, Whitbread, Bell, Mitchell and McEwing

Apologies: Councillor Kataria and Appointed Members Rob Sanders and Catherine 
Hobbs

Also in attendance: Councillor Fielker – Cabinet Member for Adult Care
Councillor Kaur – Cabinet Member for Homes and Culture

25. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)
 
The Committee noted the apologies of Councillor Kataria and Appointed Members 
Catherine Hobbs and Rob Sanders.  The Committee also noted that following receipt of 
the temporary resignation of Councillor Kataria from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee, the Director of Legal and Governance, acting under 
delegated powers, had appointed Councillor McEwing to replace him for the purposes 
of the meeting.

26. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the 11th October, 2018 Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee be approved and signed as a correct record.

27. CONSULTATION ON FUTURE USE OF GLEN LEE AND HOLCROFT HOUSE 
RESIDENTIAL HOMES 

The Committee considered the report of the Cabinet Member for Adult Care regarding 
the consultation on the future use of Glen Lee and Holcroft House residential homes.  

The Cabinet Member for Adult Care was in attendance and addressed the meeting.  
Representations were also received from Councillor Morrell, Claire Ransom (Unison), 
Sue Atkins (Trade Unionists and Socialist Coalition) and Michael Marx (Socialist Party). 

RESOLVED:

i) That occupancy data for Glen Lee and Holcroft House, over a 5 year period, 
was circulated to the Committee.

ii) That the Market Position Statement was shared with the Committee.
iii) That information was provided to the Committee enabling a comparison to be 

made between the current cost to the Authority of agency staff employed 
within the residential homes and the costs associated with previous 
providers. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



- 12 -

iv) That the detailed options analysis on the various proposals being considered 
was circulated to the Committee.

v) That the Council’s Absence Management Policy was circulated to the 
Committee.

vi) That officers consult with representatives from Liverpool City Council and 
Monmouthshire County Council to develop understanding of their operating 
model and recent decisions to develop new residential care homes for people 
with dementia.

vii) That officers undertake further research to ascertain the average cost of an 
external placement in neighbouring local authorities that do not have their 
own residential dementia care homes.

viii) That the Committee are provided with the following, over a 10 year period, 
broken down annually:

• The overspend against the residential care budget
• The sickness days lost per FTE employee, by residential care 

home.  

28. HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION STRATEGY 2018-2023
 
The Committee considered the report of the Cabinet Member for Homes and Culture 
detailing the Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2018-2023.   

The Cabinet Member for Homes and Culture was in attendance and addressed the 
meeting.

RESOLVED:

i) That the Cabinet Member considers including within the Strategy explicit 
reference to effective multi-agency working to improve early intervention.

ii) That, whilst recognising the current data difficulties, the Cabinet Member 
gives consideration to including targets within the Strategy, or commits to 
including targets when the data concerns were addressed.  

29. REDUCING DOMESTIC ABUSE AND PREVENTING PEOPLE FROM BECOMING 
PERPETRATORS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE IN SOUTHAMPTON 

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Legal and Governance 
requesting that the Committee agree the terms of reference for a scrutiny inquiry 
looking at reducing domestic abuse and preventing people from becoming perpetrators 
of domestic abuse in Southampton.  

RESOLVED:

(i) that the draft terms of reference for the scrutiny inquiry be approved; and

Page 2



- 13 -

(ii) that authority be delegated to the Director of Legal and Governance, in 
consultation with the Chair of the Scrutiny Inquiry Panel, to finalise the inquiry 
plan.

30. MONITORING SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE EXECUTIVE 

The Committee received and noted the report of the Director of Legal and Governance 
detailing the actions of the Executive and monitoring progress of the recommendations 
of the Committee.

31. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC - CONFIDENTIAL PAPERS INCLUDED 
IN THE FOLLOWING ITEM 

RESOLVED to move that in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the confidential 
report and appendix to the following Item.

Confidential report and appendix contain information deemed to be exempt from 
general publication based on Category 3, 5 and 7A of paragraph 10.4 of the Council’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.  If the content of this report were to be treated 
as a public document it would reveal information that is both commercially sensitive and 
detrimental to the business affairs of the Council.  

32. STRATEGIC SERVICES PARTNERSHIP UPDATE 

The Committee considered the confidential report of the Service Director, Digital and 
Business Operation updating the Committee on the Strategic Services Partnership.  

RESOLVED that, to enable comparisons to be made moving forward, the current cost 
model within the Strategic Services Partnership contract was circulated to the 
Committee.  
  

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



DECISION-MAKER: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

SUBJECT: SAFE CITY PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REVIEW
DATE OF DECISION: 10 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF: CHAIR OF THE SAFE CITY PARTNERSHIP

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Superintendent Alison Heydari Tel: 101

E-mail: Alison.heydari@hampshire.pnn.police.uk

Director Name: Mike Harris Tel: 023 8083 2882
E-mail: mike.harris@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None
BRIEF SUMMARY
This report provides the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (OSMC) 
with an update for 2018/19 on community safety in Southampton and the work of the 
Safe City Partnership. It includes information on the recently completed Community 
Safety Strategic Needs Assessment, as well as an update on work to revise and 
update the Safe City Strategy. The data refers to the 2017/18 period as this is the 
latest full year data available for analysis.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) That the Committee considers and notes this report. 
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS

1. The Chair requested that the OSMC receives an annual update on community 
safety in Southampton and the work of the Safe City Partnership.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)

Background

3. In April 2017, the Southampton Safe City Partnership and Southampton City
Council agreed a three year strategy to be delivered by March 2020. Progress 
against this strategy is regularly assessed by the Safe City Partnership.

4. There is a legislative requirement for the Partnership to undertake a
Community Safety Strategic Needs Assessment each year. This year’s
Strategic Assessment has recently been completed, and provides an overview 
of current and future crime trends, disorder and community safety issues 
affecting Southampton. This report provides an overview of the latest available 
evidence and progress across a range of community safety related issues.

5. The Southampton Safe City Partnership co-ordinates multi-agency activity to 
improve lives and foster stronger communities by reducing crime, anti-social Page 5

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Alison.heydari@hampshire.pnn.police.uk
mailto:mike.harris@southampton.gov.uk


behaviour, and the use and harm caused by drugs and alcohol throughout the 
city. Partners include the five statutory authorities; Hampshire Constabulary, 
Southampton City Council, Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service, Probation 
Services and Southampton Clinical Commissioning Group. In addition, there 
are representatives from the council’s Youth Offending Service, Southampton 
Voluntary Services, Go! Southampton and the Integrated Commissioning Unit.
Overall Crime 

6. In 2017/18, the recorded crime rate in Southampton was 125.2 crimes per 
1,000 population. This is significantly higher than the national average of 82.4 
per 1,000 population. However, Southampton no longer has highest overall 
crime rate amongst its comparator group of fifteen similar Community Safety 
partnerships, as shown below.

7.

8. Hampshire and IOW Constabulary recorded a 2.3% increase in crime in 
Southampton in 2017/18. This compares to a 6% increase recorded across 
the whole of Hampshire, and a 12.8% increase nationally. It is the fourth 
successive year that overall recorded crime has increased in Southampton, 
albeit at a much slower rate in 2017/18 compared to 2016/17, when there was 
a 10.7% increase.

9. Previous increases in crime, especially in 2014/15 and 2015/16, are likely to 
have been driven at least in part by changes in recording and reporting 
practices by Hampshire Constabulary following the publication of the HMIC 
Inquiry findings in November 2014. However, changes to crime data integrity Page 6



have now been in place for over 3 years, suggesting data from 2017/18 
should be comparable with 2016/17 and 2015/16. Therefore, similar to last 
year, the recorded rise in crime in 2017/18 is likely to reflect, at least in part, a 
true increase in crime levels.

10. The conclusion that there has been an increase in actual crime levels is 
reinforced by a 5.4% rise in 999 calls, together with an increased perception 
amongst residents that crime levels have increased in the last year as 
reported in the City Survey 2018. In contrast there was a 1.5% decrease in 
101 calls during 2017/18. However, Hampshire Constabulary suggest that this 
may be explained by a reduction in abandoned calls (failure demand). 

11. The figure below illustrates the changes in reported crime by type of offence, 
as well as the percentage change since last year. The rise in recorded crime 
in Southampton appears to be driven by increases in all types of crime, with 
the exception of burglary (both residential and non-residential), vehicle 
offences, drug offences and threats to kill.

12.

 
13. In terms of crime distribution, total recorded crime has increased in 9 wards 

and fallen in 7 wards. The wards with increases are as follows:
 Coxford – 16% (167 crimes)
 Swaythling – 12.0% (135 crimes)
 Portswood – 7.6% (102 crimes)
 Harefield – 7.4% (91 crimes)
 Bargate – 7.1% (441 crimes)
 Bassett – 6.0% (50 crimes)
 Peartree – 5.6% (78 crimes)
 Bevois – 0.8% (27 crimes)
 Bitterne Park – 0.3% (3 crimes).

The largest decreases were seen in Bitterne (5.9%) and Sholing (5.6%). 
There were smaller declines in Freemantle (3.4%), Millbrook (3.4%), 
Redbridge (0.6%), Shirley (0.4%) and Woolston (0.4%). Page 7



Burglary

14. A new classification of burglary offences was introduced in April 2017 which 
identifies all burglary offences as either “residential” or “non-residential”. This 
differs from the old system of classification in which offences were either 
“dwelling” or “non-dwelling”. Residential burglary includes all buildings or parts 
of buildings that are within the boundary of, or form part of a dwelling including 
sheds, garages and outhouses. Previously, burglaries from sheds, detached 
garages and outhouses were classified as “non-dwelling” offences.  
Consequently it is only possible to make meaningful comparisons with 
previous years as regards total burglaries recorded.

15. The total number of burglaries reported in Southampton fell by 14% in 
2017/18 (2988 in 2016/17 to 2568), compared to a national increase of 6%. 
Southampton now has a dedicated residential burglary team, and a 
Hampshire-wide Residential Burglary Strategy 2018-2020, which is a Police 
led strategy, was agreed in November 2017, with progress being made 
towards its implementation in the second half of 2017/18. Owners have been 
allocated to specific parts of the plan and area forums, which Southampton 
contributes to, have been set up to track local delivery.
Alcohol-affected Offences

16. In Southampton, 2,492 offences were recorded by the Police as being 
affected by alcohol in 2017/18, an increase of 8.2% on the previous year. This 
follows a 6.4% increase recorded in 2016/17. The largest increase was seen 
in alcohol-affected violent crime, which rose by 14.3% in the last year. Some 
of these increases may be due to improvements in recording by the Police, 
but are also thought to be associated with a rise in the retail theft of alcohol. In 
addition, the Police is beginning to identify further links with domestic incidents 
and sexual offences which will cause more crimes to be highlighted.

17. Particularly large increases in alcohol-affected crime occurred in Shirley (44%, 
49 offences) and Peartree (81%, 59 offences), although these areas still 
experience much lower rates than the prime night-time economy areas of 
Bargate (26.6 offences per 1000 population) and Bevois (24.5 offences per 
1000 population).

18. An Alcohol Strategy was agreed by Health and Wellbeing Board in March 
2017. Implementation leads were identified for each theme (Safe, Healthy, 
and Vibrant – relating to the night time economy) and are working to deliver 
the strategy, including the recommissioning of specialist substance misuse 
services. An annual report on the implementation of the Alcohol Strategy will 
be presented to a joint meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safe 
City partnership in Spring 2019.
Anti-social behaviour

19. There has been a 3.4% increase in the number of recorded anti-social 
behaviour offences in 2017/18, following a 3.6% increase recorded in the 
previous 12 months. Anti-social behaviour continues to be a priority for 
neighbourhood policing teams across the city, and Police Inspectors are 
engaging with their communities including hosting and attending community 
engagement events.

20. The council’s City Wardens work with Police to address anti-social behaviour 
across the city, including joint patrols with police and targeting fly tipping 
incidences amongst other forms of anti-social behaviour. City Warden patrols 
initially focused on the city centre but have extended to district centres in 

Page 8



2018. The council also works engages with communities to address anti-social 
behaviour through Community Tasking Coordination Groups.
Hate Crime

21. A total of 707 hate crimes were recorded by Police in Southampton in 
2017/18; an increase of 25% on the previous year. In the same period, 
national figures show an increase of 17%. The majority of hate crimes in 
Southampton were race hate crimes (77%), 15% were sexual orientation 
related, 5% were religious hate crimes, 5% were disability related and 2% 
were gender identity related. 

22. The Safe City Partnership have been activity involved in the development of 
the Third Party Hate Crime Reporting Network, and supported the 
Southampton Love Don’t Hate campaign in Hate Crime Week (October 2018).   
Sexual Offences

23. Recorded sexual offences have increased in 2017/18, with the number of 
recorded rapes increasing by 24% (396 in total) and all sexual offences by 
14% (1,035 in total). Southampton has the second highest rate of sexual 
offences amongst comparator areas. 

24. Hampshire Constabulary attribute the increases in part to improved recording 
by Police, increased confidence in reporting and raised awareness of the 
public in terms of reporting cases. Nonetheless, the recent increase in sexual 
offences, and rapes in particular, is of concern. This is especially the case as 
the 2017 Crime Survey for England and Wales showed that, nationally, 
around 5 in 6 victims did not report their experiences to the Police, indicating 
these crimes remain significantly under–reported. A deep dive analysis into 
the increase in serious sexual offences is planned by the Constabulary and 
likely to get underway in January 2019.

25. Non-recent sexual offences represent an increasing proportion of recorded 
sexual offence crimes. In 2017/18, 28% of serious sexual offences including 
rape were non-recent compared to 26% in 2016/17, while 33% of rape 
offences were non-recent compared to 29% in 2016/17. The percentage of 
rapes reported within 28 days has remained broadly level over the two years, 
at around 44%. These figures equate to a rate of increase in non-recent rapes 
of 38% (36 crimes), in contrast to a 20% increase in recent rapes (29 crimes).
Domestic violence

26. Violent crimes flagged as domestic increased by 7% in the last 12 months, to 
3,031 recorded offences. However, the number of arrests for domestic 
violence rose at a faster rate of 63%, from its recent low of 787 arrests in 
2016/17, to 1,279 arrests in 2017/18. The proportion of alleged offenders who 
were then charged has also increased slightly, from 34.2% to 37.5%. This is 
largely the result of positive action by the Police to increase the arrest rate, 
with greater scrutiny of cases and a review of the quality of domestic abuse 
risk assessments.

27. A Domestic and Sexual Abuse (DSA) Strategy Forum is in place and meets 
quarterly to ensure close working between all partners. The Safe City 
Partnership actively monitors progress against the DSA Strategy, with an 
annual report presented to the Partnership in November 2018. An Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Committee inquiry into domestic violence is also 
scheduled to take place in January 2019, supported by a dedicated strategic 
needs assessment.
Violent Offences

Page 9



28. The number of recorded violent offences in Southampton rose by 7.9% in 
2017/18 (9544 in 2016/17 to 10,300), following an increase of 14.4% in 
2016/17, and rates are still higher than all comparator areas except 
Portsmouth. Rates of violent crime continue to be highest in the city centre, 
where the night time economy acts as a driver for these offences. 

29. Robbery increased by 24% in 2017/18 (405) compared to a 30% increase in 
England. A significant proportion of the yearly increase in robbery in 2017/18 
occurred in April and May 2017, but the monthly number of offences was also 
generally at a higher level than in 2016/17. Robbery offences are 
concentrated in the primary night time economy wards of Bargate and Bevois 
where 20.4% of offences involved the use of a bladed implement in 2017/18.

30. Serious knife crime also continues to increase in Southampton, rising by 29% 
in 2017/18 (following a 15% rise in 2016/17 and a 42% rise in 2015/16). 
Southampton accounted for one quarter of all bladed instrument occurrences 
in Hampshire in 2017/18 (400 of 1601 occurrences). Southampton is impacted 
by high harm drug networks and there has been a steady increase in the use 
of knives in relation to drug related violence since 2016. Southampton has 
also recorded the highest number of arrests within Hampshire for possession 
of a bladed article on school premises (8, compared to 6 in Portsmouth and 6 
in Havant).

31. Youth Offending Service (YOS) have initiated a Weapons Awareness Group 
with a range of partners in partnership and will be reporting progress to the 
Safe City Partnership in 2019. A Police Apprentice Scheme, which is a tried 
and tested Police engagement initiative designed by young people for young 
people to promote peer engagement/education and social action, will be 
launched in 2019 for dissemination to schools and the group is organising 
bespoke sessions with Youth Options to deliver 'Fearless' Interventions in 
youth settings and schools.
Drug Offences

32. Recorded drug offences in Southampton in 2017/18 have decreased by 8.0% 
in 2017/18 to 664, from 722 in 2016/17, whilst the number of drug-related 
violence (DRV) offences has remained the same (101). There remains a 
potential capability shortfall in relation to officers dedicated to executing the 
Constabulary drug related harm plan. At a district level neighbourhoods often 
struggle to resource warrants dynamically, again suggesting a degree of 
unrecorded crimes of this type. 

33. A Drugs Strategy was agreed by the Safe City Partnership in June 2017. A 
Drugs Board, with leads from the police and council was subsequently set up 
and is working to deliver the strategy’s action plan. As part of this, the 
council’s Public Health team is leading a Prevention and Treatment work 
stream, focusing on addressing drug related deaths, as well as optimising 
treatment. Police operations are active to reduce the supply of drugs across 
county lines, such as Operation Fortress which identifies drug issues in the 
city through offenders and supports vulnerable people. Other disruptive 
operations are such as Operation Heavy have focused on disrupting the most 
harmful drug networks in the city.  An annual report on the implementation of 
the Drugs Strategy will be provided to a joint meeting of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Safe City partnership in Spring 2019.  
Resident Perception of Crime

34. The Southampton City Survey was carried out between July and September 
2018 to capture the views of people living and working in the city about 

Page 10



various issues, including community safety. The survey was conducted by 
telephone, using a mixture of random digital dial and mobile telephone 
samples, a total of 1,190 responses were received. The survey demonstrates 
that resident perceptions of crime have increased. Just over one third of 
people responding in 2018 felt crime had increased or significantly increased 
in the last 12 months (36%). This is a considerably more than the levels 
reported in 2016 (13%) or 2014 (14%). Only 7% felt that it had decreased. 

35. Respondents were also asked how safe they feel in their local area. In 2018, 
90% reported that they felt safe during the day, falling to 57% after dark. The 
percentage feeling safe during the day is the same as in the 2016 City Survey, 
while the percentage feeling safe after dark has decreased from 63% in 2016. 
Southampton residents’ perceptions of safety are also lower than the national 
average: analysis of the Local Government Association data for June 2018 
shows that, nationally, 94% of people feel safe in their local area during the 
day, and 75% after dark.

36. 48% of residents agreed that Police and other local public services are 
successfully dealing with crime in the city. This is lower than the 59% reported 
in the City Survey 2016 and the 62% in the City Survey 2014.
Offender Profiles

37. Offenders committing two or more offences in year were responsible for over 
31% of crime in the city in 2016/17, illustrating the importance of reducing 
reoffending. Overall Southampton has a reoffending rate which remains 
statistically similar to the national average but a higher than average number 
of previous offences per offender at 23 compared to 19 nationally.

38. Ex-offenders are supported to engage with volunteering opportunities in the 
city through the Southampton Voluntary Services Community Roots service as 
well as through volunteering opportunities which are promoted across the city. 
This has included Southampton Voluntary Services giving focused 
presentations to ex-offenders on opportunities available to them.
Youth Offending 

39. The rate of first time entrants to the criminal justice system has increased by 
32% compared to 2016/17, to 439 per 100,000 population aged 10-17.  It is 
now significantly higher than the national average of 276. There have also 
been increases in the rate of first time entrants in Hampshire and the Isle of 
Wight. These reflect a general pattern of higher local charging rates which 
were found to be related to an increase in crime severity.

40. Youth reoffending has increased relative to the national average: 47% of 
Southampton juvenile offenders in the 2015/16 cohort have reoffended, 
compared to 42% nationally. This is likely to be as a result of the success of 
the Youth Offending Service (YOS) in reducing the number of young 
offenders, leaving a cohort with increasingly complex needs who are more 
prone to reoffend. 

41. The Youth Offending Service is in the process of employing a Diversion 
Family Engagement Worker to support troubled families and the Child Friendly 
Southampton ambition is being led with several events and projects planned 
with businesses, 3rd sector and statutory partners. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
42. None
Property/Other Page 11



43. None
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
44. The Police and Justice Act 2006 empowers overview and scrutiny committees 

to scrutinise Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships, and the partners 
who comprise it, insofar as their activities relate to the partnership, at least 
once a year.

Other Legal Implications: 
45. None
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
46. Risk to be reflected in the revised Safe City Strategy.
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
47. These will be defined as the work progresses.

KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 
1. Safe City Strategy Progress Update
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Privacy Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Privacy Impact
Assessment (PIA) to be carried out.  

No

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing 
document to be Exempt/Confidential (if 
applicable)

1. Safe City Strategic Assessment:
http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/healthintelligence/jsna/communit
y-safety.aspx  

Page 12

http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/healthintelligence/jsna/community-safety.aspx
http://www.publichealth.southampton.gov.uk/healthintelligence/jsna/community-safety.aspx


Safe City Strategy 2017 - 2020 Progress Update

Priority Action Lead 
Agency Update

Continue to raise awareness and improve 
communication to help people understand 
what they need to do to avoid becoming a 
victim of crime and encourage reporting 
focusing on deprived and hard to reach 
communities/areas.

All

The Safe City Partnership have been actively involved in a range of 
campaigns and awareness communications relating to community 
safety. 

During 2018, Southampton City Council used its communication 
channels to promote community safety messages on staying safe 
when consuming alcohol and enjoying Halloween and bonfire night; 
having the confidence to speak out about male violence towards 
women (White Ribbon Day) and child neglect and abuse; and how to 
prevent hate crime.  

The council also used the Tenants’ Link e-alert to communicate directly 
with council tenants. Feedback has shown that tenants welcome 
articles on how to tackle crime in their area, and the council will 
continue collaborating with Hampshire Constabulary on joint articles in 
the e-alert, including about domestic violence and Christmas safety.

Partners have also undertaken work to engage with harder to reach 
communities through Police community engagement activity, social 
media activity to encourage vulnerable victims to report crime and 
Southampton Voluntary Services (SVS) communications through 
voluntary sector Mailings and Friday Forums to ensure victims can 
seek support and are aware of help available.

Continue to engage with the public to 
identify and respond to issues specific to 
each neighbourhood area that most 
significantly impact communities (crime and 
anti-social behaviour).

Hampshire 
Constabulary

Police Inspectors engage all the time with their communities including 
with local councillors. Supt Alison Heydari also has meetings with 
Members of Parliament to address local issues. PCSOs host and 
attend community engagement events, which are hosted by local 
groups and advertised online. 

Reduce 
crime, 
reoffending 
and 
antisocial 
behaviour

Support evidence based approaches to 
tackle emerging crime patterns and prevent 
crime, while supporting initiatives in 
deprived areas. 

Hampshire 
Constabulary

The Safe City Partnership are activity engaged in the annual Safe City 
Strategic Assessment which uses evidence to inform future activity. 
Partners have been working on understanding and raising awareness 
of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) as a key part of prevention 
and early intervention, and this work will continue into 2019.  

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7
A

ppendix 1



Safe City Strategy 2017 - 2020 Progress Update

Priority Action Lead 
Agency Update

Support communities to give victims of hate 
crime the confidence to report incidents, and 
ensure this crime data is monitored to 
identify trends.

Hampshire 
Constabulary

The Partnership has supported the Third Party Hate Crime Reporting 
Centres network and the Southampton “Love Don’t Hate” campaign to 
encourage reporting of hate crime.  

Working collaboratively with the Probation 
Services to reduce reoffending by improving 
outcomes for offenders through timely 
access to substance misuse services, 
mental health services, diversion services, 
employment training, family support, and 
accommodation and education 
opportunities.   

Probation 
Services

Ex-offenders are supported to engage with volunteering opportunities 
in the city through the SVS Community Roots service as well as 
through promoting volunteering opportunities. The Integrated 
Commission Unit (ICU) supports ex-offenders through specialist 
substance misuse services, including support for young offenders, and 
the relationship between the Youth Offending Service (YOS) and the 
Drug Alcohol Support and Health service (DASH) remains strong.

Information from Probation services to support the strategy progress 
update is outstanding. 

Continue to address activity in the city 
associated with anti-social behaviour 
through joint working, in order to disrupt and 
reduce begging and improve awareness 
through education.

Southampton 
City Council/ 
Hampshire 
Constabulary

The Police and council continue to work together to address anti-social 
behaviour associated with begging, and the council has employed five 
city welfare warden who work closely with the neighbourhood police 
teams to address these issues. 

Explore opportunities with businesses to 
monitor commercial burglary hot spots in 
order to prevent and reduce the number of 
burglary offences in the city.

Hampshire 
Constabulary

Police Operations have focused on target hardening and engaging with 
business to provide advice to reduce risks. The Police have also led a 
media campaign relating to commercial crime. 

Monitor data from a range of sources in 
order to better understand violent crime 
trends.

Hampshire 
Constabulary

Police continue to gather evidence to understand violent crime, and 
this intelligence is provided to the Safe City Partnership and included in 
the Strategic Needs Assessment. 

Reduce the 
harm 
caused by 
drugs and 
alcohol

Work with the Health and Wellbeing Board 
to monitor and support the delivery of the 
Alcohol Strategy to reduce alcohol-related 
crime, disorder and violence in the city.

All

Both the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safe City Partnership have 
received updates on progress against the Alcohol Strategy in 2018. 

An annual report on the implementation of the Alcohol Strategy will 
next be provided to a joint meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and Safe City partnership in Spring 2019.

P
age 14



Safe City Strategy 2017 - 2020 Progress Update

Priority Action Lead 
Agency Update

Implement the Drugs Strategy, focusing on 
prevention, treatment and enforcement, 
working to reduce drug related deaths and 
the impact of drug related litter.

Hampshire 
Constabulary

Both the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safe City Partnership have 
received updates on progress against the Drugs Strategy in 2018.

A Police led Drugs Board has been established and operations are 
active to reduce the supply of drugs across county lines, such as 
Operation Fortress. 

A drug-related litter action plan has been developed following the 
council's scrutiny inquiry, and is now being implemented.  

An annual report on the implementation of the Drugs Strategy will be 
provided to a joint meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safe 
City partnership in Spring 2019.

Maintain operations to safeguard vulnerable 
people against drugs activity and associated 
crime.

Hampshire 
Constabulary

Operation Fortress continues to address drug issues in the city in 
terms of identifying offenders and vulnerable people. Additional Police 
work is addressing “cuckooing”, taking action against offenders and 
supporting vulnerable individuals. Operation Heavy ran for 6-8 weeks 
focusing on disrupting the most harmful drug networks in the city.

Work collaboratively with Public Health and 
the Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategic 
Group to implement the Multiagency 
Domestic and Sexual Abuse Strategy 2017-
20.

Southampton 
City Council

The Safe City Partnership received an update on the Domestic and 
Sexual Abuse Strategy from the Strategic Group in November 2018. 
The Strategic Group meets quarterly and close working between all 
partners is established and monitored. 

Investigate the rate of arrests and charges 
for domestic violent crime and review 
practices and officer training if necessary to 
ensure the most effective method of 
reducing Domestic and Sexual Abuse in the 
city.

Hampshire 
Constabulary

The Police have implemented significant levels of training: Safe Life’s 
training has been rolled out to every member of staff in the 
Constabulary and there has been messaging about the importance of 
arrest in terms of safeguarding. 

Protecting 
Vulnerable 
People

Ensure there are appropriate referral routes 
in place to programmes for perpetrators of 
domestic violence and abuse.

Probation 
Services

The ICU commission perpetrator services for the city, and services link 
to the wider offer of support and therapy for perpetrators through 
probation. 

P
age 15



Safe City Strategy 2017 - 2020 Progress Update

Priority Action Lead 
Agency Update

Information from Probation services to support the strategy progress 
update is outstanding. 

Encourage increased reporting and sharing 
of local intelligence related to Modern Day 
Slavery, Harmful Practices, those Missing, 
Exploited or Trafficked, Domestic Violence 
and Abuse to better understand the extent 
of these crimes and increase learning 
regarding intervention and safeguarding.

Hampshire 
Constabulary

Police have established a multi-agency steering group which reports to 
the Silver Group, through which information on ‘hidden harm’ crime is 
circulated Force wide. Police have also undertaken community 
engagement to support increased confidence in reporting. 

Southampton City Council formally adopted its Charter Against Modern 
Slavery in December 2018, commiting the council to taking action 
through procurement and contract management to ensure that its 
suppliers are not involved in modern slavery.

Enhance support to identified vulnerable 
people through health and safety community 
projects and work to build community 
resilience.

Hampshire 
Fire and 
Rescue 
Service

Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service (HFRS) Protection Teams 
continue to inspect and audit our highest risk premises and event 
locations across the city.  The Safety Advisory Group (SAG), develops 
preparedness and response plans for some of the city’s largest annual 
events.  

Community Safety Officers, working with volunteers, have completed 
more than 300 Safe and Well visits and over 100 post incident follow-
up meetings.  The multi-agency ‘after the fire’ approach provides an 
intervention/referral programme supporting vulnerable residents to 
improve their safety, welfare and general quality of life.  

Fire as a Health Asset (FHA) work continues grow, engaging with the 
NHS Trust and Age Concern in the delivery of STEER Courses.  These 
courses aim to increase the activity and mobility levels of our elderly 
communities. Other courses delivered by HFRS from local Fire 
Stations include A Better Me and Quit and Get Fit; all courses 
designed to promote healthier living within vulnerable groups.

Continue to support the counter extremism 
and Prevent agenda and maintain routes for 
safeguarding people at risk of radicalisation.

Prevent 
Working 
Group

The Prevent Working Group meets quarterly to review risks and 
supervise activity relating to the Prevent agenda. In 2018 training tools 
have been updated and the Working Group have engaged with Police 
to inform their Local Profile assessment. 

P
age 16



Safe City Strategy 2017 - 2020 Progress Update

Priority Action Lead 
Agency Update

Continue to address rough sleeping activity 
within the city, ensuring strong pathways of 
support are available for vulnerable and high 
risk individuals with complex needs.

All

The Safe City Partnership have been actively involved in the Beds 
Begging and Business group, with members including Southampton 
Voluntary Services (SVS) leading on the development of the Rough 
Sleeping Charter.

Additional funding was from MHCLG was secured for the city to help 
reduce rough sleeping. This builds on the work by the Homeless 
Vulnerable Adult Team, identifying and working with some of the 
service users who need more intensive support. 

Work together to ensure that families of 
children who offend have support, 
prioritising resources for the most high risk 
offenders.

Youth 
Offending 
Service

The Youth Offending Service (YOS) are introducing new Diversion 
Family Engagement Workers to work with families of children who are 
a concern at the earliest opportunity. 

Whole family working has been promoted more strongly in 2018 as a 
result of merged teams with YOS, as part of Targeted and Restorative 
Service.  Audit activity evidences improvements in the integrated 
planning and multi-agency response, working with families of offenders 
known to the YOS.  

Promote child-friendly restorative practises, 
working with partners and schools to 
achieve our ambition of becoming a 
restorative city.

Youth 
Offending 
Service

The Child Friendly Southampton ambition is being led and endorsed by 
key stakeholders.  Awareness training is being co-delivered and 
expanded to partner agencies, and more detailed training is underway 
to train champions and facilitators.  The Library Service is working with 
City of Sanctuary to achieve accreditation with schools as part of 
Restorative Practice, and the Schools of Sanctuary network has been 
established. The Working with Families Project is leading practice 
changes using Restorative Practice, and will be supported by external 
evaluation.

Reducing 
Youth 
Crime

Monitor reoffending rates for young people, 
prioritising resources at those assessed as 
the most high risk and high need young 
offenders in the city.

Youth 
Offending 
Service

The YOS Priority Young Person Strategy has been refocused to 
include children at risk of criminal exploitation, involvement with gangs, 
weapons misuse, drug distribution and those due for release from 
custody within the next three months. This approach reflects a 
decrease in the number of children re-offending, but an increase in 
children involved in serious offences.

P
age 17



Safe City Strategy 2017 - 2020 Progress Update

Priority Action Lead 
Agency Update

Work collaboratively to reduce children’s 
use of weapons and raise awareness with 
schools and youth groups.

Youth 
Offending 
Service

The YOS has initiated a Weapons Awareness Group, which is linked to 
the Safe City Partnership and includes education and third Sector 
partners. 

The Police Apprentice Scheme will be launched in 2019; this is an 
initiative designed by young people for young people to promote the 
voice of young people, peer engagement/education and social action.

P
age 18



DECISION-MAKER: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

SUBJECT: PLANNING PERFORMANCE
DATE OF DECISION: 10 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF: SERVICE LEAD: INFRASTRUCTURE, PLANNING & 

DEVELOPMENT
CONTACT DETAILS

AUTHOR: Name: Sam Fox Tel: 023 802044
E-mail: Samuel.Fox@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: Denise Edghill Tel: 023 802882
E-mail: Denise.Edghill@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None
BRIEF SUMMARY
This report updates the Committee on planning performance, following the Committee 
considering a paper in 14 December 2017, and an update on 12 April 2018.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) To consider and note the contents of the report.
REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. To respond to a request from the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. No alternatives have been considered.
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)

Legislative Background
3. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 

planning polices for England and how these are expected to be applied. At 
the time of the last report the 2012 NPPF was the guiding document. This has 
now been replaced by the July 2018 NPPF.

4. With regard to enforcement the 2018 NPPF replicates the 2012 version, 
stating in para 58 that “Effective enforcement is important to maintain public 
confidence in the planning system. Enforcement action is discretionary, and 
local planning authorities should act proportionately in responding to 
suspected breaches of planning control. They should consider publishing a 
local enforcement plan to manage enforcement proactively, in a way that is 
appropriate to their area. This should set out how they will monitor the 
implementation of planning permissions, investigate alleged cases of 
unauthorised development and take action where appropriate”. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



Planning Enforcement
5. The enforcement team have received and investigated the following number 

of cases over the last 5 years. Whilst negotiating informally to resolve 
breaches does result in the resolution of the majority of cases there has been 
a sharp increase in the number of formal notices served where negotiation 
has failed.

Total cases Enforcement 
Notices

Stop Notices Breach of 
Condition 
Notices

Section 215
Notices

2013 376 13 0 6 1
2014 363 17 0 8 4
2015 345 10 0 7 2
2016 357 13 0 4 1
2017 312 14 0 6 3
2018 321 28 0 15 2

6. The Enforcement Team now has four members of staff.  Karl Collymore is the 
Enforcement Supervisor and Gavin Grayer and Helen Sharp are Enforcement 
Officers. An additional post has been created in the team and Jeremy Wright 
has recently taken up the Planning Enforcement Assistant post. The team is 
now undertaking more pro-active work on HMO’s and working closely with the 
Licensing team.
Development Management 

7. The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government monitor local 
planning authorities performance in determining planning applications. The 
criteria are that 60% of major applications and 70% of minor and other 
applications need to be determined within designated timescales. The latest 
performance figures are set out below and indicate a positive improvement. 
The figures for Oct-Dec 2018 are not yet available but will be provided 
verbally at the meeting on 10th January 2019.

8. Minor & 
Other Apps

July – 
Sept 
2017

Oct – 
Dec 
2017

Jan – 
March 
2018

April – 
June 
2018

July – 
Sept 
2018

Oct – 
Dec 
2018

No. of Cases 318 274 238 292 272
Performance 20.44% 31.75% 77.73% 89.38% 90.44%
Major Apps
No. of Cases 13 7 18 5 5
Performance 46.15% 85.71% 83.33% 100% 100%

Figs to 
be 
provided 
at 
meeting

9. The Development Management Team has now overcome the previous issues 
of staffing numbers, and has been supported by a number of professional 
agency staff over the last year. Using the 20% increase in planning 
application fees, appointments have been made to Planning Officer posts, 

Page 20



and we have managed to attract high calibre candidates to work within the 
team. This has brought much needed stability to the team and morale has 
improved as a result.

10. The team has now overcome the performance issues that led to the potential 
to be designated by the Secretary of State twelve months ago. The Planning 
Advisory Service (PAS) provided assistance in looking at the Council’s 
planning performance, and an Improvement Plan has been implemented 
throughout 2018.  

11. During a recent visit by colleagues from MHCLG the feedback was as 
follows: “It was really encouraging to see a clear and continuous 
improvement in your performance for non-major applications since you 
received your letter dated 6th April from the then Minister of State for 
Housing and Planning, Dominic Raab MP. 
It was particularly helpful to learn more about the service and IT improvement 
measures that you have introduced and how you have sought to address 
specific resourcing issues to introduce greater stability to the planning 
department.”

12. Because MHCLG measure planning application performance over a 
cumulative two year period, despite the improvement in our performance 
throughout 2018, due to the legacy of previously poor performing quarters in 
2017, Southampton City Council will remain under the performance threshold 
levels for non-major applications for the next designation round.

13. The Council’s pro-active approach to planning for major site development has 
been highlighted by a number of applicants and agents working in the city, 
and has led to national recognition as an exemplar. 
Other Issues

14. There have been a number of complaints received about the Council’s 
automated telephone system, with applicants not being able to reach staff to 
gain updates on progress with their planning applications. This issue has now 
been raised with Customer Services and IT, with a request to making it more 
user friendly. 

15. The Council’s online system for planning applications has been the subject of 
some complaints, with a small number of consultees having stated that they 
have not received letters notifying them of planning applications. This has 
been investigated and has recently been addressed by IT colleagues. 

16. Where appropriate the Council has used its powers to decline to determine 
planning applications.  Planning officers have come under pressure from 
residents groups to use these powers more widely and where the evidence 
indicates the Council is in a strong position to do so this sends a clear 
message to developers and agents in the city that we will use these powers.

17. Appendix 1 sets out an update on the issues raised by the Committee on 14 
June 2018.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 

Page 21



18. There are no implications arising from this report
Property/Other
19. No implications as a result of this report.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
20. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 alongside other primary and secondary 

legislations.
Other Legal Implications: 
21. None
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
22. Effective management of the planning process is important to protect the 

Council’s reputation, to guard against challenges on decisions made and to 
support implementation of development projects.

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
23. The Council’s strategic priorities include ‘Strong and Sustainable Economic 

Growth’ and ‘Being an Attractive Modern City’, both of which the planning 
process can make a significant contribution to.

KEY DECISION? No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 
1. Update on actions from April 2018 Meeting
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out?

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection Impact 
Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out?  

No

Page 22



Update on actions from April 2018 Meeting

Action proposed Action Taken Update
1) That the Administration add 

planning application 
performance relating to major 
and minor applications to the 
Council’s set of key corporate 
indicators.

A review of the Council strategy and 
appropriate metrics will be undertaken by 
Cabinet and this will include whether 
planning application performance is to be 
added to the Council’s set of key corporate 
indicators.

This performance 
information is 
available if 
required by 
Cabinet.

2) That key planning metrics are 
provided to the Planning 
Committee on a regular basis.

The Planning Committee will be provided 
with quarterly reports on planning 
application performance. These will be 
provided in each quarter following the 
submission of returns to MHCLG.

This information is 
now being 
provided.

3) That, reflecting the lack of 
political awareness of the 
planning performance data, 
officers review the processes 
and governance relating to the 
Council’s performance 
reporting and performance 
management.

Recent organisational changes have 
included the appointment of a Service 
Manager responsible for Performance & 
Service Delivery, in the Infrastructure 
Planning and Development team, who is 
reviewing performance management and 
reporting arrangements for the service. 
This role will ensure the provision of 
quarterly information to the planning 
committee.

This is now taking 
place.

4) That a briefing paper is 
circulated to all councillors on 
Section 70 planning powers. 

The Senior Solicitor produced a briefing 
paper on 20th November 2017 for Planning 
Officers. 

Completed.

5) That consideration is given to 
the actions that can be taken 
to improve the sharing of 
intelligence from HMO 
licensing and Planning 
Enforcement to support more 
informed, targeted and robust 
enforcement activity.

The Planning Enforcement Supervisor and 
HMO Licensing Team do share 
information and intelligence. The 
effectiveness of this information sharing is 
to be included in the terms of reference for 
the Planning Enforcement review which 
will be tendered in June 2018.

Good level of 
information 
sharing and joint 
work now taking 
place (see para 6 
of the covering 
report).

6) That, to help target 
enforcement action, work is 
undertaken to determine the 
holistic cost to the public purse 
generated by developers who 
are known to consistently 
disregard planning legislation. 
Legal Services can then be 
challenged to find solutions to 
the issues raised.

Considerable resource would be required 
to carry out such a robust evaluation.
An additional post within the Enforcement 
Team is currently being recruited. Once 
the new post-holder is in place (late 
summer 2018). Due to resource pressures 
within the Enforcement Team (current 
workload), the work of the team has had to 
be largely reactive rather than more 
proactive, targeted enforcement action. It 
is hoped that this additional resource will 
enable more proactive work to take place.

The provision of 
this information 
has not been 
possible with 
available 
resources.  
The new post has 
been created. 

7) That consideration is given to 
how improvements can be 
made relating to keeping 
residents informed about 
enforcement activity, without 
impacting on the capacity of 

It is proposed that the Enforcement Team 
provide ward members with regular 
updates on enforcement activity. They can 
then act as a conduit for this information 
for their communities. It should be noted 
that enforcement activity can be sensitive 

Agreed. The 
provision of this 
information will be 
scoped out during 
work on engaging 
ward members on 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



Action proposed Action Taken Update
Enforcement Officers to 
undertake their enforcement 
role.

so in such instances updates will provide 
an overview only. 

the local plan 
review in 2019.

8) That the Committee are 
provided with the contractual 
position relating to the 
provision of performance 
metrics for the Planning IT 
system (Planning Portal). 

The Service Lead - Digital & Strategic IT 
has confirmed that performance metrics 
for the online planning system were not 
previously available. However, she has 
undertaken to provide performance 
metrics in future. These will be made 
available for the OSMC to consider.

Noted.

9) That the Committee are 
provided with planning 
enforcement activity data for 
2017/18.

The Service Lead: Infrastructure, Planning 
& Development will provide an annual 
report on enforcement activity each year. 
This will provide a summary of all formal 
notices that were served and 
prosecutions. It will also summarise the 
number of cases resolved and still 
outstanding for that year.  
A report covering the period 1st April 2017 
– 30th March 2018 is now being collated 
and will be reported to Planning and 
Rights of Way Panel.

Noted. 
Information now 
being provided.

10) That, within the law, officers 
consider best practice to 
minimise the amount of 
information that is made 
publicly available about 
residents who comment on 
planning applications through 
the Council’s Planning IT 
system.

Redaction of some details currently takes 
place. The availability of addresses can 
sometimes be helpful to panel members, 
when considering the weight of comments 
on applications. Officers in Planning and 
Legal colleagues will consider options and 
agree with the portfolio holder any 
changes in further redacting information. 

Agreed

Page 24



DECISION-MAKER: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

SUBJECT: MONITORING SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS TO 
THE EXECUTIVE

DATE OF DECISION: 10 JANUARY 2019
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR - LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE

CONTACT DETAILS
AUTHOR: Name: Mark Pirnie Tel: 023 8083 3886

E-mail: Mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk
Director Name: Richard Ivory Tel: 023 8083 2794

E-mail: Richard.ivory@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
None
BRIEF SUMMARY
This item enables the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee to monitor and 
track progress on recommendations made to the Executive at previous meetings.
RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) That the Committee considers the responses from Cabinet Members 
to recommendations from previous meetings and provides feedback.

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS
1. To assist the Committee in assessing the impact and consequence of 

recommendations made at previous meetings.
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED
2. None.
DETAIL (Including consultation carried out)
3. Appendix 1 of the report sets out the recommendations made to Cabinet 

Members at previous meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee.  It also contains summaries of any action taken by Cabinet 
Members in response to the recommendations.

4. The progress status for each recommendation is indicated and if the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee confirms acceptance of the 
items marked as completed they will be removed from the list.  In cases 
where action on the recommendation is outstanding or the Committee does 
not accept the matter has been adequately completed, it will be kept on the 
list and reported back to the next meeting.  It will remain on the list until such 
time as the Committee accepts the recommendation as completed.  Rejected 
recommendations will only be removed from the list after being reported to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Capital/Revenue 
5. None.
Property/Other
6. None.
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report: 
7. The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out in Part 1A Section 9 of 

the Local Government Act 2000.
Other Legal Implications: 
8. None
RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS
9. None.
POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS
10. None
KEY DECISION No
WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None directly as a result of this report

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
Appendices 
1. Monitoring Scrutiny Recommendations – 10 January 2019
Documents In Members’ Rooms
1. None
Equality Impact Assessment 
Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and Safety 
Impact Assessments (ESIA) to be carried out.

No

Data Protection Impact Assessment
Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection Impact
Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.

No

Other Background Documents
Equality Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at:
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 

Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable)

1. None

Page 26



Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee: Holding the Executive to Account
Scrutiny Monitoring – 10 January 2019

Date Portfolio Title Action proposed Action Taken Progress 
Status

1) That occupancy data for Glen Lee and 
Holcroft House, over a 5 year period, is 
circulated to the Committee.

Glen Lee and Holcroft House – 
combined occupancy data

1/12/2013 – 30/11/2014 96%

1/12/2014 – 30/11/2015 98%

1/12/2015 – 30/11/2016 90%

1/12/2016 – 30/11/2017 85%

1/12/2017 – 30/11/2018 65%

Further analysis is being undertaken to 
break the data down by home and by 
financial year.

Partially 
complete. An 
update will be 
provided by 10 
January 2019.

2) That the Market Position Statement is 
shared with the Committee. 

This was circulated to the Committee on 
21 December 2018.  Link: (Additional 
information)
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernG
ov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=
3805&Ver=4

Complete.

3) That information is provided to the 
Committee enabling a comparison to be 
made between the current cost to the 
Authority of agency staff employed within 
the residential homes and the costs 
associated with previous providers. 

This information has been collated and 
arrangements will be made to provide a 
confidential briefing to members of the 
Committee, as this information is 
commercially sensitive.

Action 
underway.

15/11/18 Adult Care Consultation 
on the future of 
Glen Lee and 
Holcroft House 
Residential 
Care Homes

4) That the detailed options analysis on the 
various proposals being considered is 
circulated to the Committee.

The task and finish group is scheduled to 
complete its work on reviewing the 
detailed options analysis of the various 
proposals being considered early in the 

Action 
underway.

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1

http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4


Date Portfolio Title Action proposed Action Taken Progress 
Status

New Year and the outcomes will therefore 
be circulated to the Committee in advance 
of its February meeting.

5) That the Council’s Absence Management 
Policy is circulated to the OSMC.

https://staffinfo.southampton.gov.uk/Imag
es/(D332)Attendance-management-
policy_tcm67-383945.pdf

6) That officers consult with representatives 
from Liverpool City Council and 
Monmouthshire County Council to develop 
understanding of their operating model and 
recent decisions to develop new residential 
care homes for people with dementia.

This was circulated to the Committee on 
21 December 2018.  Link: (Additional 
information)
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernG
ov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=
3805&Ver=4

7) That officers undertake further research to 
ascertain the average cost of an external 
placement in neighbouring local authorities 
that do not have their own residential 
dementia care homes.

This was circulated to the Committee on 
21 December 2018.  Link: (Additional 
information)
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernG
ov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=
3805&Ver=4

8) That the Committee are provided with the 
following, over a 10 year period, broken 
down annually:
 The overspend against the residential 

care budget
 The sickness days lost per FTE 

employee, by residential care home.  

This was circulated to the Committee on 
21 December 2018. Link: (Additional 
information)
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernG
ov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=
3805&Ver=4

Action complete.

15/11/18 Homes and 
Culture

Homelessness 
Prevention 
Strategy

1) That the Cabinet Member considers 
including within the Strategy explicit 
reference to effective multi-agency working 
to improve early intervention.

Specific reference to multi-agency 
working has been added to the first 
commitment of the first objective of the 
Homelessness Prevention Strategy, 
“Early Intervention to stop people 
becoming homeless or having to sleep 
rough.”

Complete

2) That, whilst recognising the current data 
difficulties, the Cabinet Member gives 

Retained targets that can continue to be 
collected:

Ongoing

P
age 28

https://staffinfo.southampton.gov.uk/Images/(D332)Attendance-management-policy_tcm67-383945.pdf
https://staffinfo.southampton.gov.uk/Images/(D332)Attendance-management-policy_tcm67-383945.pdf
https://staffinfo.southampton.gov.uk/Images/(D332)Attendance-management-policy_tcm67-383945.pdf
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4
http://www.southampton.gov.uk/modernGov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=123&MId=3805&Ver=4


Date Portfolio Title Action proposed Action Taken Progress 
Status

consideration to including targets within the 
strategy, or commits to including targets 
when the data concerns are addressed.  

 Ensure B&B is used for non-
intentionally homeless  families for 
no more than 6 weeks

 Ensure families living in temporary 
accommodation receive an offer of 
a settled home within 12- 18 
months

 Reduce rough sleeper numbers as 
measured by the annual count

 Collect prevention and relief data 
as defined under new data 
required by government with view 
to developing target for year 2 of 
the new HR Act

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (including matters arising)
	7 Safe City Partnership Annual Review
	Appendix

	8 Planning Performance
	Appendix 1 - Update on actions from April 2018 Meeting.docx

	9 Monitoring Scrutiny Recommendations to the Executive
	Appendix


